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The World’s Most Populous Nation

C h i n a

“ China will be a formidable player in the region. No
combination of other East Asian economies-Japan, South
Korea, Taiwan and ASEAN will be able to balance China.
News Perspectives Quarterly, Volume 18 #3, ASEAN Must Balance China in Asia,
Mr Lee Kuan Yew, Senior Minister of Singapore ”

“The People’s Republic of China is the world’s most populous country and the second largest
energy consumer (after the United States).” Report of the U.S. Energy Information Administration
dated 26th April 2001.
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“Just as Japan was the world’s workshop after the Second

World War, China is becoming the factory of the world in

the 21st 
century.” Deputy Prime Minister of Singapore,

Lee Hsien Loong, at the Forbes Global CEO Conference dated

19th 
September 2001.

“China’s economy is potentially ten times the size of

Japan’s.” Prime Minister Goh Chok Tong’s National Day Rally

2001 Speech at the University Cultural Centre, National

University of Singapore, 19th August 2001.

“The PRC’s accession to WTO and its associated

commitments to cut tariffs, liberalize trade and

investment, and open domestic sectors to foreign

participation will lead to significant efficiency gains, more

competition, and wider consumer choice.” Asian

Development Outlook 2001, Asian Development Bank.

“China is a giant magnet for investment and its huge

market has drawn a big chunk of foreign capital away

from Taiwan as it has done elsewhere.” The Investment

Commission of Taiwan, 18th October 2001.
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Chairman’s Message

The past year was another fruitful one for Asia Power.  Riding on the success achieved in FY2000, the Group
has made further progress in our endeavour to enhance shareholder value through improved operational
efficiency, business growth and better financial performance.  The total installed capacity of the Group’s
power plants increased from 289.5MW to 337.5MW as at the end of June 2001.  The Group’s turnover
registered a sharp increase of 78.3% to S$108.6 million from S$60.9 million a year ago.  Group operating
profit and net profit rose 32.5% and 12.2% respectively.  Since FY1999, the net profit of the Group has risen
from S$5.2 million to S$8.3 million, representing a compounded annual growth rate of 26%.  Group earnings
per share (“EPS”) rose 7.9% to 2.58 cents from the 2.39 cents registered in FY2000.  Group net tangible
assets per share remained unchanged at 13.82 cents.

To a large extent, the financial achievements of the past year were a direct result of the continued efforts of
the management and staff to enhance efficiency in our core operations, and to create value from our new
acquisitions and other capital restructuring activities.  During the year, the operations of the Group were
enhanced by two major developments: the acquisition of Shenzhen NARI Technologies Co., Ltd (“Shenzhen
NARI”), a specialized solution provider for the automation and protection of power transmission systems in
the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”), and the capital restructuring exercise carried out at our associated
company, Changzhou Suyuan Electric Power Co.,Ltd (“Changzhou Suyuan”) in Changzhou, Jiangsu Province.
These two new companies have had a significant immediate impact on the financial performance of the
Group.  The inclusion of the operation of Shenzhen NARI accounted for approximately 20% of the Group’s
enlarged turnover this year.  In the case of Changzhou Suyuan, Asia Power’s divestment in the associated
company led to the recognition of a one-time gain of S$2.8 million at the Group level.  With a 25% stake in
the new entity, Asia Power is now the single largest shareholder in the associated company.  Changzhou
Suyuan is the largest power bureau related peaking facility in Jiangsu Province, satisfying nearly one-third of
the province’s peaking needs.  With the completion of this exercise, the Group now has a portfolio of four
power plants.

Looking forward, we are reasonably optimistic about the operation result as well as the growth prospects of
the Group despite the looming global recession led by a weakened US economy.  Our confidence stems from
the fact that our operations are all based in the PRC.  Economic growth in the PRC is expected to be maintained
at a healthy annual growth rate of 7% over the next five years.  The PRC has also become the prime target for
foreign investors who recognise its tremendous potential as a major manufacturing centre and its huge domestic
consumer market.  The nation’s imminent entry into the World Trade Organisation (“WTO”) and its successful
bid to host the Olympic Games in 2008 will further add to its attractiveness.  All these factors are expected to
boost demand for energy, especially electric power, to drive the country’s expanding businesses, industrial and
commercial activities.  Concurrently, domestic consumption of power is also expected to rise fuelled by rising
affluence.

Another major development is the on-going restructuring of the power industry in the PRC.  The aim of this
restructuring is to improve the efficiency of electricity generation, trade and consumption.  As part of this
industry deregulation, it is expected that  power generation and electricity retailing will be opened up to the
private sector.  This will provide opportunities for mergers and acquisitions.
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Wong Sow Voon
Chairman

The Group, being an established player in the power industry
of the PRC, is therefore well-poised to leverage on our strengths
to grow our business.  We will continue to increase our capacity
through a focused strategy of “Growth by acquisitions and
mergers” in power and power-related businesses.  We will also
seek to cultivate alliances with key players in the industry not
only in the PRC but also throughout Asia.

In view of the satisfactory results, the Board of Directors has
recommended a tax exempt final cash dividend of 0.75
Singapore cents per ordinary share.  With the total number of
shares outstanding at 320 million, the proposed dividend in
aggregate represents a payout ratio of 29% to the current year’s
net profit.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, I would like to thank my fellow
directors, the management and staff for their dedication,
commitment and contributions to the company.  I would also
like to express my appreciation to our valued shareholders for
your continued support and confidence in the company.
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Financial Highlights

F I N A N C I A L  S U M M A R Y

FY2001 FY2000 FY1999

S$’000 S$’000 S$’000

Turnover 108,562 60,894 65,067

Profit before Tax 19,582 12,799 8,720

Net Profit Attributable to Shareholders 8,262 7,360 5,200

Share Capital & Reserves 51,386 44,223 27,739

Earnings Per Share (Cents) 2.58 2.39 2.18

Net Tangible Assets Per Share (Cents) 13.82 13.82 11.56

Turnover

0

120,000

S$’000

65,067 60,894

1999 2000

60,000

108,562

2001

Earnings Per Share

0

3.00

Cents

2.18

2.39

1999 2000

1.50

2.58

2001

Net Tangible Assets Per Share

0

15.00

Cents

11.56

1999 2000

7.50

13.82

2001

13.82

Profit before Tax

0

25,000

S$’000

8,720

12,799

1999 2000

19,582

2001

12,500



Asia Power Corporation Limited     Annual Report 2001

 p
ag

e 
7

Heilongjiang Asiapower Xinbao Heating & Power Co., Ltd (“Xinbao”)
Xinbao is the single largest subsidiary of Asia Power. It is a coal-fired co-
generation power plant with a total installed capacity of 225MW. Being
the only co-generation power plant in the city of Qiqihar in Heilongjiang
Province, it supplies electricity to the power grid and provides heat and
steam to industrial and residential users.  Acquired by Asia Power in May
1998, Xinbao has since contributed significantly to the Group’s performance.

Asia Power (Neijiang) Hydroelectricity Co., Ltd (“Neijiang”) Neijiang
is a hydropower plant located in the city of Neijiang in Sichuan Province.
Being an environmentally friendly power plant, Neijiang relies on water as
the driving force to generate electricity.  Neijiang has a total installed capacity
of 13.5MW.  Asia Power acquired a 100% stake in the plant in February
1998.

Changzhou Suyuan Electric Power Co., Ltd (“Changzhou Suyuan”)
Changzhou Suyuan owns, manages and operates two peaking power plants
with a total installed capacity of 99MW in Jiangsu Province.  The first plant
was acquired in March 1999.  The second plant was acquired in June 2001
through a restructuring exercise.  Following the restructuring exercise, Asia
Power became the single largest shareholder of Changzhou Suyuan, owning
25% of its enlarged capital.

Shenzhen NARI Technologies Co., Ltd (“Shenzhen NARI”)  Shenzhen
NARI is a power-related technology company specializing in the design,
manufacturing and assembly of computerised automation systems used
for the regulation of electricity flow and protection of power grid systems.
The company is classified as a “high-tech”company by Shenzhen Municipal
Government. Through Asia Tech’s controlling stake in Shenzhen NARI, Asia
Power’s effective interest in the share capital of Shenzhen NARI is 31.72%.

Asia Technologies Limited (“Asia Tech”)  Asia Tech is an investment
holding company which has 52% equity share in Shenzhen NARI
Technologies Co., Ltd, a technology company incorporated in Shenzhen,
PRC. Asia Power acquired a controlling shareholding of 61% of the share
capital of Asia Tech in August 2000.

Corporate Profile

The Group  The Group is principally involved in the electric power
generation business in the PRC.  The Group, as at 30th June 2001, owns,
manages and operates four power plants with a total installed capacity of
337.5MW and one power-related technology company.
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Overview
The financial year ended 30th June 2001 (“FY2001”) was another rewarding year for the Group.  In the face
of a slowing global economy, Asia Power managed to improve its financial performance.

Total Group sales rose substantially from S$60.9 million in FY2000 to S$108.6 million in FY2001, representing
a jump of S$47.7 million or 78.3%.  Profit after tax grew from S$7.4 million to S$8.3 million, achieving a
growth of S$0.9 million or 12.2% over FY2000.  This strong performance was achieved due to both well-
managed organic growth and M&A activities at our subsidiary and associated companies.

In line with the Group’s strategic expansion into related businesses, we acquired a 61% stake in Asia
Technologies Limited (“Asia Tech”).  Asia Tech owns 52% equity interest in Shenzhen NARI Technologies
Co., Ltd (“Shenzhen NARI”) – effectively providing Asia Power a controlling interest in Shenzhen NARI of
31.72%.

This move is of strategic significance to the Group.  For the first time, the Group had revenue generated
from business outside the normal scope of power generation.  And, being one of a few key players in the
power-related high-tech business in China, Shenzhen NARI serves as a conduit for the Group to enter into
the mass potential market for value-added products and services in PRC’s power industry.

In addition, Shenzhen NARI also offers highly-scalable products and service offerings which can potentially
position the Group for power-related technology businesses in new markets beyond China.

Shenzhen NARI has already started to make its maiden contributions to the Group.  In FY2001, it registered
sales of S$22.1 million, more than 20% of the total sales of the Group.  This amount also accounted for
approximately 46% of the net increase in Group sales over FY2000.

Unlocking value from our existing assets/resources to enhance shareholder value is a top priority of Asia
Power’s management. As such, the Group undertook a major corporate development in restructuring our
48%-owned associated company, Changzhou Changya Electric Power Co., Ltd (“Changzhou Changya”).
Through a restructuring exercise, the associated company, Changzhou Changya acquired the productive
assets of Yangzhou Suyuan Electric Power Co., Ltd (“Yangzhou Suyuan”).  This restructuring exercise created
the new company Changzhou Suyuan Electric Power Co., Ltd  (“Changzhou Suyuan”), one of the largest
peaking facilities in Jiangsu Province. Changzhou Suyuan owns two power plants, one in the city of Changzhou
with an installed capacity of  51 MW, and one in the city of Yangzhou with an installed capacity of 48 MW.
This compares to the 51 MW installed capacity of the former Changzhou Changya.

As a result of this exercise, Asia Power is now the single largest shareholder of Changzhou Suyuan with a
25% stake in the enlarged share capital.  The exercise also yielded a capital gain of S$2.8 million for the
Group from the sale of a 23% stake in Changzhou Changya.

Business Review

The Group’s turnover increased to S$108.6 million
from S$60.9 million a year ago, registering a sharp rise
of 78.3%.  To grow in tandem were operating profit and
net profit, which increased by 32.5% and 12.2%.
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As always, people form the foundation of any corporation.
At Asia Power, we treasure the contribution of every
employee.  We encourage the continued development
and upgrading of the skills of our people.  We have
maintained our policy of upgrading our staff through a
series of training programs for employees at all levels
within the Group.  And, to attract and retain an
experienced and dedicated team of professionals, we
continued our policy of rewarding performance and effort.
Our aim is to build long-term relationship with our people,
to work with the best and to deliver great achievements
at work through the effort of teamwork.

Being a responsible corporate citizen and a transparent
public listed company that observes the Best Practices
Guidelines recommended by the Singapore Exchange,
Asia Power has consistently shown its commitment to
high levels of corporate disclosure and transparency.

During the year, Asia Power was ranked among the most
transparent companies by The Business Times, one of the
leading business and financial newspapers in Singapore.
This is a testimony of our continued effort to improve
investor relations with the general investment community.
Concurrent with this effort, we appointed a professional
public relations firm to plan, co-ordinate and implement
our program to communicate our corporate developments
to the investing public.  We also staged extensive investor
relations activities such as analyst briefings, media
interviews and press releases, to cultivate awareness of
Asia Power.

Key Operations
Co-generation Power  Heilongjiang Asiapower Xinbao
Heating & Power Co., Ltd (“Xinbao”) remains the core
contributor to Group sales, accounting for approximately
77% of the total sales of the Group in FY2001.  As the
key revenue driver, this plant accounted for 52.7% of
the net increase in Group sales over the previous financial
year.

The significant rise in revenue was attributable to three
factors.  The first was the change to a lease arrangement
from the management contract on generator No.7 and
No.8.  There was also an improvement in the tariff rates
from RMB240 per MWh to RMB284 per MWh.  And,
besides the rise in tariff rates, the plant also managed to
secure growth in electricity generation volume.
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The future looks even more promising, taking into
account the country’s imminent entry into the World
Trade Organization (“WTO”) and its successful bid to host
the Olympic Games in 2008.

Business Review

The Management remains committed to high environmental and safety standards while delivering electricity
and heat efficiently and economically.  To maintain productivity and safety, regular maintenance and major
overhauls have been carried out in accordance with preset schedules to ensure that the generators are in
tip-top working conditions.  A direct result of this is that generating downtime has been reduced during the
year in review.

Hydropower  Our wholly owned subsidiary, Asia Power (Neijiang) Hydroelectricity Co., Ltd (“Neijiang”), is
an environmentally friendly hydropower plant located in Neijiang City of Sichuan Province.  During the year,
total electricity generation declined from 70,859 MWh to 56,882 MWh, a drop of nearly 20%, due to an
unprecedented seasonal drought in the Tuojiang River.

Peaking facilities  Prior to the corporate restructuring exercise of Changzhou Suyuan, our associated company
owned only one peaking power plant with a capacity of 51MW in the city of Changzhou.  With the inclusion
of another peaking power plant in Yangzhou, Changzhou Suyuan has doubled its peaking capacity to
99MW.  Following the restructuring, our equity interest in the associated company has been reduced from
48% to 25% of the enlarged entity.

With this enlarged capacity, the associated company  secured higher capacity subsidies from the local provincial
power bureau.  The higher capacity subsidies and, the inclusion of the contributions of the Yangzhou plant
from the second half of FY2001 has resulted in a total sales increase of 13% and a gross profit increase of
33% over the previous year.

Power grid automation and protection technologies  The completion of the acquisition of Asia Tech/
Shenzhen NARI during the year marked an essential step in the Group’s strategic move to extend its operations
beyond the basic power generation business.  Shenzhen NARI has already begun to make its maiden
contributions to the Group, thereby creating a diversified revenue stream for Asia Power.

Shenzhen NARI is a home-grown company specializing in the development of innovative computerized
systems used by the power industry in China.  Specifically, it designs, manufactures and assembles automation
systems for the regulation of electricity flows and the protection of power grid systems.  It is committed to
research and development (“R & D”) and has developed new products in low-voltage power transmission
which have been used in projects already undertaken.  In the pipeline are other products which are currently
being tested for commercial distribution.  Such R & D activities are carried out by Shenzhen NARI’s R & D
team comprised of ex-researchers of the Nanjing Automation Research Institute (“NARI”), the R & D arm of



Asia Power Corporation Limited     Annual Report 2001

 p
ag

e 
11

•  Wastage drain of Xinbao plant

the National Power Corporation of China.  NARI, which is a
shareholder of Shenzhen NARI, is  the most prestigious
research house in power industry automation and power grid
protection technologies in China.

With a net margin of 24.8% and a net profit of RMB25.7
million, the overall performance of Shenzhen NARI in FY2001
has been satisfactory.

Prospects
In the face of the down-turn of the global economy, China is
still the fastest growing economy in the world. Global
investors are expected to pour huge capital investment in
every economic aspect in China. With an investment-friendly
government and a self-sustaining domestic market serving
to instill confidence, the Chinese economy is expected to
continue to grow at an annual rate of 7% for the next five
years.  And, giving the economy added boosts are: China’s
imminent entry into the World Trade Organization (“WTO”)
and its successful bid to host the Olympic Games in 2008.

With our proven track record and excellent financial standing,
Asia Power is in a unique position to leverage on the
exponential growth that China is poised to achieve in the
coming years.

The power industry will continue to serve as the pillar that
propels the development of the nation.  The steady
industrialization of China will increase demand for energy,
especially electric power.  As the country progresses, per capita
consumption of power is expected to rise with increased usage
spanning across the industrial, commercial and retail sectors.
This, together with the on-going restructuring process in
China’s national power industry, will present both exciting
opportunities and competitive challenges for us.

To stay competitive and profitable, we will continue to adopt
a focused acquisition strategy to expand the Group’s horizons.
We will seek opportunities for mergers, acquisitions and
alliances to build up our core capabilities.  We will also
continue to improve our management capabilities as well as
operational efficiencies to enhance our profitability and unlock
value for our shareholders.  In this way, we aim to maximize
our shareholders’ value and position the Group for sustainable
long-term growth.
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Corporate Governance

The company fully supports the Best Practices Guide as issued by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited.  The Board of Asia Power Corporation Limited as at the date of this report comprises of five Directors,
three of whom are non-executives. The executive and non-executive Directors are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Chang Pan, Peter (President)
Li Tianfei (Vice President, China Operations)

Non-executive Directors:

Wong Sow Voon (Chairman)
Ng Fook Ai
Gosta Bjorkenstam

The Board holds meetings regularly to consider and resolve major financial and business matters concerning
the Group and to review the Group’s performance.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year, with further meetings if circumstances require. The principal
responsibility of the Committee is to assist the Board of Directors in the identification and monitoring of areas
of significant business risks including the following functions:

(i) Ensure the effectiveness of the management of the financial business risks and the reliability of
the management reporting;

(ii) Ensure the compliance with the laws and regulations, particularly those of the Companies Act,
Chapter 50 and the Listing Manual issued by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited
(“Listing Manual”);

(iii) Ensure the appropriateness of half year and full year announcement and reports;
(iv) Ensure the effectiveness and efficiency of external audit;
(v) Review related party transactions;
(vi) Review the scope of work of the external auditors, and receiving and considering the reports of

the external auditors;
(vii) Recommend the appointment of the external auditors;
(viii) Review the requirements for approval and disclosure of interested party transactions in accordance

with Chapter 9A of the Listing Manual;
(ix) Review the internal procedures set up by the Company to identify and report and where necessary,

seek approval for interested person transactions and review interested person transactions.

Investment Committee

The Board has resolved that an Investment Committee be set up to consist of the following members:
Ng Fook Ai (Chairman)
Wong Sow Voon
Chang Pan, Peter

The committee will review all investments and shall set the policies that will govern the investment portfolio of
the Company.

Share Option Scheme Committee

There are three members in the Asia Power Share Option Scheme Committee. They are:
Wong Sow Voon (Chairman)
Chang Pan, Peter
Gosta Bjorkenstam

Remuneration Committee

There are three members in the Remuneration Committee. They are:
Gosta Bjorkenstam (Chairman)
Wong Sow Voon
Ng Fook Ai

The committee is responsible for reviewing and approving the remuneration, benefits and terms of employment
for executive Directors, senior management and staff.
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We, the undersigned directors, on behalf of all the directors of the Company, submit this annual report to the
members together with the audited financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the financial year
ended 30 June 2001.

Directorate

The directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:-

Wong Sow Voon
Chang Pan, Peter
Ng Fook Ai
Gosta Bjorkenstam
Li Tianfei

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Company during the financial year have been those of an investment holding company.

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are those relating to:

(a) owning, managing and operating of power plants;
(b) design, manufacture and assembly of computerised automation systems; and
(c) investment holding.

There have been no significant changes in such activities of the Company and its subsidiaries during the financial year.

Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries

During the financial year, the following subsidiaries were acquired by the Company:-

Group’s Share of
Effective Equity Net Tangible

Name of Company Interest Acquired Assets Acquired Consideration

% $ $

Asia Technologies Limited 61 1,906,604 9,632,803
and its subsidiary,
Shenzhen NARI
Technologies Co., Ltd

Except as disclosed above, there were no other acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries by the Company and its subsidiaries
during the financial year.

Directors’ Report for the year ended 30 June 2001
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Financial Results

Results of the Group and of the Company for the financial year are as follows:-

The Group The Company

$ $

Profit from ordinary activities after taxation 15,865,969 5,515,365
Minority interests (7,603,550)     -

Net profit attributable to members of the Company 8,262,419 5,515,365
Retained profits brought forward 6,594,352 3,414,845

14,856,771 8,930,210
Appropriations:
Transfer to enterprise development reserve (100,433) -
Additional dividend paid in respect of the previous year (22,771) (22,771)
Tax exempt proposed final dividend of S$0.0075 per share of US$0.05 each (2,400,000) (2,400,000)

(2,523,204) (2,422,771)

Retained profits carried forward 12,333,567 6,507,439

Transfers to and from Reserves and Provisions

Material transfers to or from reserves during the financial year are as set out in the statements of changes in equity of the
Group and of the Company.  Movements in provisions are as set out in the accompanying notes to the financial statements.

Issues of Shares and Debentures

During the financial year, a subsidiary, Asia Technologies Limited, increased its authorised share capital from US$50,000
to US$3,150,000 by the creation of an additional 3,100,000 ordinary shares of US$1 each.  The issued and paid-up
capital was also increased from US$50,000 to US$3,150,000 by the issue of an additional 3,100,000 ordinary shares of
US$1 each fully paid at par by way of capitalising shareholders’ loans.

Except as disclosed above, the Company and its subsidiaries did not issue any other shares or debentures during the
financial year.

Arrangements to Enable Directors to Acquire Shares and Debentures

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose
objects are, one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate, other than those pursuant to the Asia
Power Share Option Scheme.

Directors’ Report for the year ended 30 June 2001
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Directors’ Interests in Shares or Debentures

According to the register kept by the Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50,
particulars of interests of directors who held office at the end of the financial year in shares or debentures, or share
options in the Company and in related corporations which are not wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, are as
follows:

Holdings in the name Other holdings in
of the director, spouse or which the director is

infant children deemed to have an interest

At beginning At end At beginning At end
 of the year of the year of the year of the year

Immediate and Ultimate Holding Company
Asiapower Holdings Corporation Ltd Ordinary Shares of US$1 each
Wong Sow Voon - - 1,762,250 1,762,250
Chang Pan, Peter - - 803,550 803,550

The Company Ordinary Shares of US$0.05 each
Wong Sow Voon 34,742,860 34,742,860 179,200,000 179,200,000
Chang Pan, Peter 26,057,140 26,057,140 179,200,000 179,200,000
Ng Fook Ai 332,000 - 179,200,000 -

Holdings in the name
of the director

At beginning At end
of the year of the year

The Company Options to subscribe for Ordinary Shares of US$0.05 each
Wong Sow Voon
- Exercisable between 9/11/2000 to 8/11/2004 at an

exercise price of $0.26 507,170 507,170
- Exercisable between 3/1/2002 to 2/1/2006 at an

exercise price of $0.15 - 480,000

Chang Pan, Peter
- Exercisable between 9/11/2000 to 8/11/2004 at an

exercise price of $0.26 507,170 507,170
- Exercisable between 3/1/2002 to 2/1/2006 at an

exercise price of $0.15 - 480,000

Liu Tao (resigned on 13 September 2001)
- Exercisable between 9/11/2000 to 8/11/2004 at an

exercise price of $0.26 362,264 362,264
- Exercisable between 3/1/2002 to 2/1/2006 at an

exercise price of $0.15 - 186,667

Directors’ Report for the year ended 30 June 2001
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Directors’ Interests in Shares or Debentures (cont’d)
Holdings in the name

of the director

At beginning At end
of the year of the year

The Company Options to subscribe for Ordinary Shares of US$0.05 each
Ng Fook Ai
- Exercisable between 9/11/2000 to 8/11/2004 at an

exercise price of $0.26 289,811 289,811
- Exercisable between 3/1/2002 to 2/1/2006 at an

exercise price of $0.15 - 186,667

Gosta Bjorkenstam
- Exercisable between 9/11/2000 to 8/11/2004 at an

exercise price of $0.26 289,811 289,811
- Exercisable between 3/1/2002 to 2/1/2006 at an

exercise price of $0.15 - 186,667

Li Tianfei
- Exercisable between 9/11/2000 to 8/11/2004 at an

exercise price of $0.26 289,811 289,811
- Exercisable between 3/1/2002 to 2/1/2011 at an

exercise price of $0.15 - 320,000

By virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50, Wong Sow Voon and Chang Pan, Peter are deemed to have
interests in the shares held by the Company in the subsidiaries, at the beginning and at the end of the financial year.

Except as disclosed in this report, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in shares or
debentures of the Company or of related corporations either at the beginning or at the end of the financial year.

There was no change in any of the abovementioned interests in the Company or in related corporations between the
end of the financial year and 21 July 2001.

Dividends

Since the end of the last financial year, the Company had paid a tax exempt interim dividend of $1,213,450 that was
declared in the previous financial year.  The Company had also paid a tax exempt dividend of $1,600,000 in respect of
the previous financial year as compared to $1,577,229 as proposed in the directors’ report of that year.  An additional
dividend of $22,771 was paid as the proposed dividend of US$0.0029 per share was subsequently fixed and approved
at S$0.005 per share at the last annual general meeting.  No dividend has been paid during the year in respect of the
financial year under review and the directors now recommend the payment of a tax exempt final dividend of $2,400,000.

Directors’ Report for the year ended 30 June 2001
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Other Statutory Information

(a) Bad and Doubtful Debts

Before the profit and loss account and the balance sheet of the Company were made out, the directors took
reasonable steps to ascertain what action had been taken in relation to writing off bad debts and providing for
doubtful debts of the Company.  The directors have satisfied themselves that all known bad debts have been
written off and that adequate provision has been made for doubtful debts.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render any amounts
written off for bad debts or provided for doubtful debts in the Group inadequate to any substantial extent.

(b) Current Assets

Before the profit and loss account and the balance sheet of the Company were made out, the directors took
reasonable steps to ascertain that current assets of the Company which were unlikely to realise their book values
in the ordinary course of business have been written down to their estimated realisable values and that adequate
provision has been made for diminution in value of such current assets.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report
which would render the values attributable to current assets in the consolidated financial statements misleading.

(c) Charges and Contingent Liabilities

Since the end of the financial year:-

• no charge on the assets of the Company or any corporation in the Group has arisen which secures the
liabilities of any other person; and

• no contingent liability of the Company or any corporation in the Group has arisen.

(d) Ability to Meet Obligations

No contingent liability or other liability of the Company or any corporation in the Group has become enforceable
or is likely to become enforceable within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in
the opinion of the directors, will or may substantially affect the ability of the Group or of the Company to meet
their obligations as and when they fall due.

(e) Other Circumstances Affecting the Financial Statements

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report
or the financial statements which would render any amount stated in the consolidated financial statements or the
financial statements of the Company misleading.

Directors’ Report for the year ended 30 June 2001
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Other Statutory Information (cont’d)

(f) Unusual Items

In the opinion of the directors, no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has substantially
affected the results of the operations of the Group or of the Company during the financial year.

In the opinion of the directors, no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the
interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the
results of the operations of the Group or of the Company for the financial year in which this report is made.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

Since the end of the last financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a
contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the director or with a firm of which he is a member or with
a company in which he has a substantial financial interest.

Share Options

The Asia Power Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) of the Company was approved and adopted by its members at an
Extraordinary General Meeting held on 19 October 1999.

Other statutory information regarding the above share options are as set out below:-

(i) the exercise price of the options is determined by the average of the last dealt prices of the Company’s shares on
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (SGX-ST) for the three consecutive trading days preceding the
date of grant of such options;

(ii) the options granted expire after 5 years or 10 years from the dates of grant unless they are cancelled or have
lapsed; and

(iii) options may be exercised one year after the date of grant.

The Scheme is administered by a Committee of Directors comprising Wong Sow Voon, Chang Pan, Peter and Gosta
Bjorkenstam.

As at the end of the financial year, unissued shares of the Company under option were as follows:-

Exercise price Aggregate options
Date granted Exercise period (per share) outstanding

8/11/1999 9/11/2000 - 8/11/2004 $0.26 2,246,037
8/11/1999 9/11/2000 - 8/11/2009 $0.26 760,753
2/1/2001 3/1/2002 - 2/1/2006 $0.15 1,706,668
2/1/2001 3/1/2002 - 2/1/2011 $0.15 3,040,004

7,753,462

Directors’ Report for the year ended 30 June 2001
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Share Options (cont’d)

Options in respect of unissued ordinary share of US$0.05 each in the Company have been granted under the Scheme as
follows:-

Aggregate options
Aggregate options exercised/lapsed Aggregate

Options granted since since options
granted during commencement of commencement of outstanding as at

the financial Scheme to end of Scheme to end of the end of the
Name of year under the financial year the financial year financial year
participant review under review under review under review

Directors of the Company:
- Wong Sow Voon* 480,000 987,170 - 987,170
- Chang Pan, Peter* 480,000 987,170 - 987,170
- Liu Tao 186,667 548,931 - 548,931
- Ng Fook Ai 186,667 476,478 - 476,478
- Gosta Bjorkenstam 186,667 476,478 - 476,478
- Li Tianfei 320,000 609,811 - 609,811

Other executives**: 2,960,004 5,513,964 (1,846,540) 3,667,424

4,800,005 9,600,002 (1,846,540) 7,753,462

* Wong Sow Voon and Chang Pan, Peter are controlling shareholders of the Company.  The options granted to them during the
financial year under review had been approved by independent shareholders of the Company at the last annual general meeting.

** This relates to executives who, each received less than 5% of the total options available under the Scheme.

Except as disclosed above, during the financial year, there were:-

(i) no options granted to controlling shareholders of the Company and their associates under this Scheme;

(ii) no participant who had received 5% or more of the total number of the options available under the Scheme;

(iii) no options granted by the Company or its subsidiaries to any person to take up unissued shares in the Company or
its subsidiaries; and

(iv) no shares issued by virtue of any exercise of option to take up unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries.

Except as disclosed above, as at the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company or its
subsidiaries under option.

Audit Committee

The members of the Audit Committee at the date of this report comprise three non-executive directors as follows:-

Ng Fook Ai (Chairman) (Appointed on 30 November 2000)
Wong Sow Voon
Gosta Bjorkenstam

Directors’ Report for the year ended 30 June 2001
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Audit Committee (cont’d)

The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year, with further meetings if circumstances require.  The principal responsibility
of the Committee is to assist the Board of Directors in the identification and monitoring of areas of significant business
risks including the following:-

(i) the effectiveness of the management of financial business risks and the reliability of management reporting;

(ii) compliance with laws and regulations, particularly those of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 and the Listing Manual
issued by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“Listing Manual”);

(iii) the appropriateness of half year and full year announcements and reports;

(iv) the effectiveness and efficiency of external audit; and

(v) related party transactions.

Specific functions of the Committee include reviewing the scope of work of the external auditors, and receiving and
considering the reports of the external auditors.  The Committee also recommends the appointment of the external
auditors.

In addition, the Audit Committee has, in accordance with Chapter 9A of the Listing Manual, reviewed the requirements
for approval and disclosure of interested party transactions, reviewed the internal procedures set up by the Company to
identify and report and where necessary, seek approval for interested person transactions and reviewed interested person
transactions.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board of Directors that the auditors, KPMG, be nominated for re-
appointment as auditors at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Auditors

The auditors, KPMG, have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

WONG SOW VOON CHANG PAN, PETER
Chairman Director

Singapore
27 September 2001

Directors’ Report for the year ended 30 June 2001
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We, WONG SOW VOON and CHANG PAN, PETER, being directors of ASIA POWER CORPORATION LIMITED, do
hereby state that in our opinion:-

(a) the financial statements set out on pages 23 to 56 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 30 June 2001 and of the results of the business and changes in
equity of the Group and of the Company and cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date; and

(b) at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts
as and when they fall due.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

WONG SOW VOON CHANG PAN, PETER
Chairman Director

Singapore
27 September 2001

Statement by Directors for the year ended 30 June 2001
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We have audited the financial statements of Asia Power Corporation Limited and consolidated financial statements of
Asia Power Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2001 as set out on pages
23 to 56.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s directors.  Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing.  Those Standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion:-

(a) the financial statements and consolidated financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Statements of Accounting Standard and
so as to give a true and fair view of:-

(i) the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 30 June 2001 and of the results and changes in
equity of the Group and of the Company and cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) the other matters required by Section 201 of the Act to be dealt with in the financial statements and
consolidated financial statements;

(b) the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company have been
properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

We have considered the financial statements and auditors’ reports of the subsidiaries which have been audited by our
associated firm and those of which we have not acted as auditors, being financial statements that have been included
in the consolidated financial statements.  We have also considered the financial statements of a subsidiary of which an
audit is not required by the law of its country of incorporation, being financial statements that have been included in
the consolidated financial statements.  The names of these subsidiaries are disclosed in note 4 to the financial statements.

We are satisfied that the financial statements of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the financial statements
of the Company are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements and we have received satisfactory information and explanations as required by us for those purposes.

The auditors’ reports on the financial statements of the subsidiaries were not subject to any qualification.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore
27 September 2001

Report of the Auditors to the Members of Asia Power Corporation Limited
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The Group The Company

Note 2001 2000 2001 2000

$ $ $ $
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 3 46,932,431 43,785,661 304,170 149,678
Investments in subsidiaries 4      -      - 29,877,926 20,245,123
Interests in an associated corporation 5 6,204,998 5,151,317 5,293,447 4,233,750
Other financial assets 6 8,888 - 8,888 -
Goodwill on consolidation 7 7,174,327      -      -      -

60,320,644 48,936,978 35,484,431 24,628,551

Current assets
Inventories 8 7,995,925 4,502,850      -      -
Trade and notes receivables 9 50,725,642 20,711,997      -      -
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 10 2,844,178 3,059,670 32,526 64,436
Amounts due from related parties (non-trade) 11 779,627 4,387,452 103,673      -
Other financial assets 6 52,500 67,798 52,500 67,798
Cash and cash equivalents 12 15,127,595 22,507,094 6,657,333 14,682,740

77,525,467 55,236,861 6,846,032 14,814,974

Current liabilities
Trade payables and accruals 13 30,184,968 16,553,672 281,801 387,399
Other payables 14 6,884,329 5,306,416 53,934 53,934
Amount due to subsidiary (non-trade) 15      -      - 93,526      -
Current portion of obligations under hire

purchase creditor 16 31,260      - 31,260      -
Current portion of interest-bearing loans 17 7,805,160 16,225,170      -      -
Provision for taxation 1,173,153 179,508 81,590 115,000
Dividend payable - 1,213,450 - 1,213,450
Proposed dividend 2,400,000 1,577,229 2,400,000 1,577,229

48,478,870 41,055,445 2,942,111 3,347,012

Net current assets 29,046,597 14,181,416 3,903,921 11,467,962

89,367,241 63,118,394 39,388,352 36,096,513
Non-current liabilities
Obligations under hire purchase creditor 16 166,245      - 166,245      -
Interest-bearing loans 17 7,446,000 31,202      -      -
Deferred taxation 18 536,101 375,157 33,000      -

8,148,346 406,359 199,245      -
Minority interests 29,832,434 18,488,437      -      -

51,386,461 44,223,598 39,189,107 36,096,513

Share capital 19 26,602,309 26,602,309 26,602,309 26,602,309
Reserves 20 24,784,152 17,621,289 12,586,798 9,494,204

51,386,461 44,223,598 39,189,107 36,096,513

The notes set out on pages 30 to 56 form part of these financial statements.

Balance Sheets as at 30 June 2001



 p
ag

e 
24

The Group The Company

Note 2001 2000 2001 2000

$ $ $ $

Revenue 21 108,562,060 60,893,977 3,936,150 5,462,648
Cost of sales (82,880,193) (47,333,113)     - -

Gross profit 25,681,867 13,560,864 3,936,150 5,462,648

Other income 22 4,457,692 2,658,582 3,386,355 765,319

Distribution costs (1,049,211)     -     -     -

Administrative expenses (7,309,999) (3,802,312) (1,404,137) (1,444,402)

Other operating expenses 23 (2,782,570)     -     -     -

Profit from operations 24 18,997,779 12,417,134 5,918,368 4,783,565

Finance costs 25 (1,013,405) (1,280,903) (4,362) -

17,984,374 11,136,231 5,914,006 4,783,565

Share of profit of an associated corporation 1,598,045 1,663,330      - -

Profit from ordinary activities
before taxation 19,582,419 12,799,561 5,914,006 4,783,565

Taxation 26 (3,716,450) (554,665) (398,641) (115,000)

Profit from ordinary activities
after taxation 15,865,969 12,244,896 5,515,365 4,668,565

Minority interests (7,603,550) (4,884,453)     - -

Net profit attributable to members
of the Company 8,262,419 7,360,443 5,515,365 4,668,565

Earnings per share (cents)
Basic and diluted 27 2.58 2.39

The notes set out on pages 30 to 56 form part of these financial statements.

Profit and Loss Accounts for the year ended 30 June 2001
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Enterprise Exchange
Share Share Statutory development Capital translation Retained
capital premium reserve reserve reserve account profits Total

The Group $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

At 1 July 1999 19,922,309 - 766,342 109,148 2,014,672 307,635 4,619,377 27,739,483
Issue of ordinary

shares 1,562,425 - - - - - - 1,562,425
Bonus issue of

ordinary shares by
capitalisation of
retained profits 1,777,575 - - - - - (1,777,575) -

Public issue of
ordinary shares    3,340,000 - - - - - - 3,340,000

Share premium
from public issue
of shares - 7,060,000 - - - - - 7,060,000

Less: listing expenses* - (980,641) - - - - - (980,641)
Transfer from

retained profits - - 591,960 225,254 - - (817,214) -
Share of reserves of

associated
corporation - - 241,830 120,816 - - - 362,646

Exchange differences
on translation of
financial statements
of overseas
- subsidiaries - - - - - 484,583 - 484,583
- associated

   corporation - - - - - 85,338 - 85,338
Profit for the year - - - - - - 7,360,443 7,360,443
Tax exempt interim

dividend of US$0.05
per share of US$1
each on 14,000,000
shares - - - - - - (1,213,450) (1,213,450)

Tax exempt proposed
final dividend of
US$0.0029 per share
of US$0.05 on
320,000,000 shares - - - - - - (1,577,229) (1,577,229)

At 30 June 2000 26,602,309 6,079,359 1,600,132 455,218 2,014,672 877,556 6,594,352 44,223,598

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2001
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(cont’d)
Enterprise Exchange

Share Share Statutory development Capital translation Retained
capital premium reserve reserve reserve account profits Total

The Group $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

At 30 June 2000 26,602,309 6,079,359 1,600,132 455,218 2,014,672 877,556 6,594,352 44,223,598
Transfer from

retained profits - - - 100,433 - - (100,433) -
Adjustment arising

from partial
disposal of
associated
corporation - - (88,647) (44,323) - (46,264) - (179,234)

Adjustment of
reserves **
- subsidiaries - - (281,900) (115,244) (203) - - (397,347)
- associated

corporation - - (56,828) (28,315) - 11,213 - (73,930)
Share of reserves of

associated
corporation - - 49,640 16,547 (221) - - 65,966

Exchange differences
on translation of
financial statements
of overseas
- subsidiaries - - - - - 1,780,564 - 1,780,564
- associated

    corporation - - - - - 127,196 - 127,196
Profit for the year - - - - - - 8,262,419 8,262,419
Additional dividend

paid in respect of
the previous year*** - - - - - - (22,771) (22,771)

Tax exempt proposed
final dividend of
S$0.0075 per share
of US$0.05 each on
320,000,000 shares - - - - - - (2,400,000) (2,400,000)

At 30 June 2001 26,602,309 6,079,359 1,222,397 384,316 2,014,248 2,750,265 12,333,567 51,386,461

The notes set out on pages 30 to 56 form part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2001
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Share Share Retained
capital premium profits Total

The Company $ $ $ $

At 1 July 1999 19,922,309  - 3,314,534 23,236,843
Issue of ordinary shares 1,562,425  - - 1,562,425
Bonus issue of ordinary shares by capitalisation

of retained profits 1,777,575  - (1,777,575) -
Public issue of ordinary shares 3,340,000  - - 3,340,000
Share premium from public issue of shares  -    7,060,000 - 7,060,000
Less: listing expenses* - (980,641) - (980,641)
Profit for the year   -  - 4,668,565 4,668,565
Tax exempt interim dividend of US$0.05 per share

of US$1 each on 14,000,000 shares   -  - (1,213,450) (1,213,450)
Tax exempt proposed final dividend of US$0.0029 per

share of US$0.05 each on 320,000,000 shares -  - (1,577,229) (1,577,229)

At 30 June 2000 26,602,309 6,079,359 3,414,845 36,096,513
Profit for the year     -  - 5,515,365 5,515,365
Additional dividend paid in respect of

the previous year*** - - (22,771) (22,771)
Tax exempt proposed final dividend

of S$0.0075 per share of US$0.05
each on 320,000,000 shares -  - (2,400,000) (2,400,000)

At 30 June 2001 26,602,309 6,079,359 6,507,439 39,189,107

* Included in the listing expenses were fees of $65,487 paid to auditors of the Company for services rendered as Reporting
Accountants for public offering of the Company’s shares and $153,910 paid to an associated firm of KPMG.  These represent
fifty percent of the fees charged by the auditors of the Company and the associated firm of KPMG.  The balance of the fees was
borne by Asiapower Holdings Corporation Ltd, Wong Sow Voon and Chang Pan, Peter.

** These are adjustments due to incorrect classifications in previous years. These adjustments do not affect the retained profits or
the results of the Group.

*** An additional dividend of $22,771 was paid as the proposed dividend of US$0.0029 per share was subsequently fixed and
approved at S$0.005 per share at the last annual general meeting.

The notes set out on pages 30 to 56 form part of these financial statements.

Statement of Changes in Equity  for the year ended 30 June 2001
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2001 2000

$ $

Profit from operating activities before taxation 19,582,419 12,799,561

Adjustments for:
Amortisation of goodwill on consolidation 551,872 -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 3,498,104 3,168,847
Loss/(Gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2,242 (1,188)
Gain on partial disposal of interests in an associated corporation (2,763,876) -
Gain on disposal of quoted equity investments - (17,863)
Interest income (546,987) (525,576)
Interest expense 1,013,405 1,280,903
Write down of short-term quoted equity securities to market value 15,298 10,100
Allowance for doubtful receivables 1,780,180 28,668
Share of profit of an associated corporation (1,598,045) (1,663,330)

Operating profit before working capital changes 21,534,612 15,080,122

Changes in working capital:
Inventories (2,314,389) (234,957)
Trade and notes receivables (22,901,329) (13,756,339)
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 785,738 (676,263)
Trade payables and accruals 9,219,378 10,357,298
Other payables 935,708 (4,856,554)

Cash generated from operations 7,259,718 5,913,307
Interest received 546,987 525,576
Interest paid (1,013,405) (1,280,903)
Tax paid (2,594,975) -
Dividend paid to minority shareholders (4,129,646) (1,398,988)
Dividend paid to shareholders of the Company (2,813,450) -

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities (2,744,771) 3,758,992

Cashflows from investing activities
Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries* (7,559,871) -
Purchase of additional shares in an associated corporation (3,087,302) -
Dividend received from an associated corporation 1,399,243 1,547,987
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (3,442,898) (2,127,752)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 297,176 2,544
Proceeds from disposal of short-term investment - 49,400
Proceeds from partial disposal of interests

in an associated corporation 5,017,986 -
Purchases of current financial assets - (109,435)
Purchase of non-current financial assets (8,888) -

Net cash outflow from investing activities (7,384,554) (637,256)

Balance carried forward (10,129,325) 3,121,736

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2001
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(cont’d)
2001 2000

$ $

Balance brought forward (10,129,325) 3,121,736
Cashflows from financing activities

Balances with related parties 3,843,511 (5,188,629)
Proceeds from bank loans 6,273,000 6,221,172
Repayment of bank loans (8,083,000) -
Proceeds from issue of shares - 9,419,359
Payments to hire purchase creditor (12,495) -

Net cash inflow from financing activities 2,021,016 10,451,902

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (8,108,309) 13,573,638
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 22,507,094 8,786,094
Effect of exchange rate changes on balances held

in foreign currency 728,810 147,362

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year (note 12) 15,127,595 22,507,094

* The attributable net assets of subsidiaries acquired during the year are as follows:
$

Property, plant and equipment 1,083,414
Inventories 916,303
Trade receivables 7,569,911
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 445,688
Cash at bank and in hand 2,072,932
Trade payables and accruals (3,716,930)
Other payables (352,053)
Provision for taxation (33,114)

7,986,151
Minority interests (6,079,547)

1,906,604
Goodwill arising on consolidation 7,726,199

Purchase consideration 9,632,803
Net of cash at bank and in hand of subsidiaries acquired (2,072,932)

Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries 7,559,871

The Company acquired a motor vehicle costing $300,000 (2000: $Nil) through hire purchase during the year and made
a downpayment of $90,000.

The notes set out on pages 30 to 56 form part of these financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2001
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Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2001

Asia Power Corporation Limited (the “Company”) is a company incorporated in the Republic of Singapore with its
registered office at 5 Shenton Way, #12-08 UIC Building, Singapore 068808.

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying balance sheets, profit
and loss accounts, statements of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows.

1. Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Company are those of an investment holding company.  The principal activities of the
subsidiaries are set out in note 4, to the accompanying financial statements.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2001 relate to the Company
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interests in an associated corporation.

(a) Statement of Compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Singapore Statements of Accounting
Standard (“SAS”) issued by the Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore and the disclosure
requirements of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50.

(b) Basis of Financial Statements Preparation

The financial statements, expressed in Singapore dollars, are prepared on the historical cost basis except that
certain investments in securities are stated at market value.

(c) Basis of Consolidation

(i) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is a company in which the Group, directly or indirectly, holds more than half of the issued
share capital, or controls more than half of the voting power, or controls the composition of the board
of the directors.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group include the financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries made up to the end of the financial year.  The results of subsidiaries acquired or
disposed of during the year are included from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective
date of disposal respectively.

(ii) Associated Corporation

An associated corporation is defined as a company, in which the Group or Company has a long-term
equity interest of not less than 20% and over which the Company exercises significant influence as
regards to financial and operating policy decisions.

Unless the interest in the associated corporation is acquired and held exclusively with a view to subsequent
disposal in the near future, an investment in an associated corporation is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity method and is initially recorded at cost and adjusted
thereafter for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the associated corporation’s net assets.
The consolidated profit and loss account reflects the Group’s share of the post-acquisition results of
the associated corporation for the year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2001

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

(c) Basis of Consolidation (cont’d)

(iii) Financial Year-End

The accounting year end of the Company is 30 June but the subsidiaries and associated corporation
have their accounting years end on 31 December.  For the purpose of preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the Group, the audited financial statements of the subsidiaries and associated
corporation for the twelve months period from 1 July to 30 June have been included.

(iv) Transactions Eliminated on Consolidation

All significant intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation.  Unrealised
profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associated corporation are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associated corporation, except where unrealised
losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in the profit and loss account.

(v) Goodwill/Negative Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the
Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired.  Goodwill arising on acquisition of foreign
subsidiaries or associated corporation is determined and translated using the exchange rate at the date
of acquisition.  Goodwill on consolidation is written off against reserves or, where appropriate, amortised
over its estimated economic useful life.

Negative goodwill arising on acquisition represents the excess of the fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired over the cost of acquisition. Negative goodwill is credited to the capital reserve.  In
respect of associated corporation, the carrying amount of negative goodwill is included in the carrying
amount of the investment in the associated corporation.

(vi) Disposal

On disposal of a subsidiary or associated corporation during the year, any attributable amount of
purchased goodwill not previously amortised through the profit and loss account or which has previously
been dealt with as a movement on Group reserves is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on
disposal.

(d) Investments in Subsidiaries and Associated Corporation

Investments in subsidiaries and associated corporation are stated at cost less any provisions for diminution in
value which are other than temporary as determined by the directors for each investment individually.  Any
such provisions are recognised as an expense in the profit and loss account.

The results of the associated corporation are included in the Company’s profit and loss account to the extent
of dividend received and receivable, provided the dividend is in respect of a period ending on or before that
of the Company and the Company’s right to receive the dividend is established before the financial statements
of the Company are approved by the directors.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2001

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

(e) Financial Assets

Debt and equity securities, which are not held for trading are classified as non-current assets and are stated
at cost less provisions for diminution in value, which in the opinion of the directors, are other than temporary.
The difference between the cost of acquisition and redemption value of long-term debt securities is amortised
over the period from acquisition to maturity.

Quoted debt and equity securities, which are held for trading are classified as current assets and are stated at
the lower of cost and market value on a portfolio basis.  Any increases or decreases in carrying amount are
included in the profit and loss account.

(f) Property, Plant and Equipment

(i) Owned Assets

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.

(ii) Subsequent Expenditure

Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment that has already been
recognised is added to the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic
benefits, in excess of the originally assessed standard of performance of the existing asset, will flow to
the enterprise.  All other subsequent expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in which it
is incurred.

(iii) Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of the property, plant and
equipment to a residual value over their estimated useful lives as follows:-

Residual value as a
Useful lives  percentage of cost

Leasehold property : 20 years or over 3%
period of lease,
whichever is shorter

Buildings : 11 to 25 years 3%
Dam and other structures : 25 to 50 years 0 to 3%
Generators and machinery : 11 to 25 years 3%
Office equipment : 3 to 5 years 0 to 3%
Computers : 1 year 0 to 3%
Motor vehicles : 5 years 0 to 3%

Depreciation in respect of land use rights is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the assets
over the estimated useful life of 50 years.

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in use.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2001

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

(g) Construction in Progress

Construction in progress is stated at cost, which comprises construction expenditure, including interest costs
and foreign exchange differences on related borrowed funds to the extent that they are regarded as an
adjustment to interest costs during the construction period, and the cost of related equipment.  No depreciation
is provided on construction in progress.

Upon completion and commissioning for operation, the costs will be transferred to property, plant and
equipment and depreciation will be provided at the appropriate rates specified in note (f) above.  A generator
is considered to be completed and commissioned when the trial run period ends.

(h) Revenue Recognition

(i) Revenue earned from supply of electricity, heat and steam is recognised when they are supplied to
customers based on basic tariff.  Revenue from additional tariff which is payable by the State Power
Bureau, which can only be determined at the end of each calender year, is recognised in the profit and
loss account when determined.

(ii) Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when goods are delivered at the customers’ premises which
is taken to be the point in time when the customer has accepted the goods and the related risks and
rewards of ownership.  Revenue excludes any sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

(iii) Dividend income from subsidiaries and associated corporation is recognised in the profit and loss
account on the date when the right to receive payment is established.

(iv) Dividend income from other investments is recognised in the profit and loss account on a receipt basis.

(v) Interest income from bank deposits is accrued on a time-apportioned basis on the principal outstanding
and at the rate applicable.

(i) Inventories

Inventories comprising coal, fuel oil, materials and spare parts for consumption by the power plants, are
stated at cost, less allowance for obsolescence.  Cost includes cost of purchases and, where applicable,
transportation cost and handling fee.  The cost of coal and fuel oil is calculated on the weighted average
basis.  The cost of materials and spare parts is calculated on the first-in first-out basis.

(j) Major Overhauls, Repairs and Maintenance

Expenditure on major overhauls, repairs and maintenance is charged to the profit and loss account when
incurred.

(k) Social Security Insurance

Contributions to social security insurance schemes are charged to the profit and loss account in the year in
which they are due.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2001

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

(l) Taxation

Taxation on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred taxation.  Taxation is recognised in
the profit and loss account except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly to equity, in which
case it is recognised in equity.

Taxation is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially
enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred taxation is provided using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used
for taxation purposes.  The following temporary differences are not provided for: goodwill not deductible for
tax purposes and the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profit.  The amount of deferred taxation provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement
of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the balance
sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the unused tax losses and credits can be utilised.  Deferred tax assets are reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

(m) Foreign Currency

(i) Foreign Currency Transactions

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated into Singapore dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated into Singapore dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date.  Foreign
currency assets, being equity investments or other long-term non-monetary assets, the holding or the
use or the subsequent disposal of which will generate receipts in a foreign currency, hedged by foreign
currency borrowings are translated into Singapore dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the balance
sheet date.  Exchange gains or losses are dealt with in the profit and loss account.

(ii) Financial Statements of Foreign Operations

The results of foreign operations are translated into Singapore dollars at the average exchange rates
for the year and balance sheet items are re-translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance
sheet date.  The exchange differences are dealt with as a movement in exchange translation account.

(n) Operating Leases

Rental payable under operating leases are accounted for in the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis
over the periods of the respective leases.

(o) Hire Purchase Assets

Assets acquired on hire purchase arrangements are capitalised in the financial statements, and the
corresponding obligation treated as a liability.  The assets so capitalised are depreciated in accordance with
the policy set out in note (f) above.  The total interest, being the difference between the total instalments
payable and the capitalised amount, is amortised over each hire purchase period to give a constant rate of
charge over the remaining balance of obligations.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2001

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)

(p) Related Parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in
making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group and the party are subject to
common control or common significant influence.  Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

(q) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, bank deposits and short-term, highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.  For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are presented
net of bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and which form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

(r) Segment Reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing products or
services (business segment), or in providing products or services within a particular economic environment
(geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments.

Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s business and geographical segments.  The primary
format, business segment, is based on the Group’s management and internal reporting structure.

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that
can be allocated on a reasonable basis.  Unallocated items mainly comprise income-earning assets and
revenue, interest-bearing loans, borrowings and expenses, and corporate assets and expenses.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire segment assets that are
expected to be used for more than one period.

(i) Business Segments

The Group comprises the following main business segments:-

Power plant operations : Owning, managing and operating power plants to generate and sell
power, heat and steam.

Power-related technology : Design, manufacture and assembly of computerised automation systems
which are used for the regulation of electricity flow and protection of
power grids.

Investment holding : Holding of long-term investments

(ii) Geographical Segments

The Group operates predominantly in the People’s Republic of China.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2001

3. Property, Plant and Equipment

Construction Dam Generators
The Group Land use Leasehold in and other and Office Motor

rights property Buildings progress structures machinery equipment Computers vehicles Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Cost
At beginning

of the year 745,604 - 3,454,503 217,792 12,890,919 30,017,816 1,584,701 373,390 815,539 50,100,264
Acquisition of

subsidiaries - 836,580 - - - - 182,622 - 264,552 1,283,754
Additions - - 131,424 2,479,768 11,091 130,114 177,229 26,235 697,037 3,652,898
Transfer from

construction
in progress - - - (2,152,770) - 1,671,627 52,341 166,002 262,800 -

Disposals - - - - - - - - (484,635) (484,635)
Reclassifications - - 378,870 (399) - 1,374,882 (1,197,022) 251,672 407,700 1,215,703
Exchange difference

on consolidation 39,374 - 182,428 11,501 680,753 1,585,204 80,065 17,897 36,730 2,633,952

At end of the year 784,978 836,580 4,147,225 555,892 13,582,763 34,779,643 879,936 835,196 1,999,723 58,401,936

Accumulated
Depreciation

At beginning of the year 33,139 - 384,405 - 658,110 4,401,433 461,651 97,038 278,827 6,314,603
Acquisition of subsidiaries - 28,235 - - - - 20,564 - 151,541 200,340
Depreciation charge

for the year 15,248 36,563 223,526 - 305,724 2,298,999 136,380 161,003 320,661 3,498,104
Disposals - - - - - - - - (189,701) (189,701)
Reclassifications - - 90,228 - - 973,893 (312,951) 200,823 263,710 1,215,703
Exchange difference

on consolidation 2,445 1,083 26,676 - 43,809 300,529 26,452 7,820 21,642 430,456

At end of the year 50,832 65,881 724,835 - 1,007,643 7,974,854 332,096 466,684 846,680 11,469,505

Depreciation charge
for the year ended
30 June 2000 14,681 -    193,688 - 287,044 2,192,246 238,879 81,877 160,432 3,168,847

Net Book Value
As at 30 June 2001 734,146 770,699 3,422,390 555,892 12,575,120 26,804,789 547,840 368,512 1,153,043 46,932,431

As at 30 June 2000 712,465 - 3,070,098 217,792 12,232,809 25,616,383 1,123,050 276,352 536,712 43,785,661
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Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2001

3. Property, Plant and Equipment (cont’d)

The Company Office Motor
equipment Computers vehicles Total

$ $ $ $
Cost
At beginning of the year 68,567 34,489 120,000 223,056
Additions - 26,235 300,000 326,235
Disposals - - (120,000) (120,000)

At end of the year 68,567 60,724 300,000 429,291

Accumulated Depreciation
At beginning of the year 26,013 20,365 27,000 73,378
Depreciation charge for the year 20,032 33,711 39,000 92,743
Disposals - - (41,000) (41,000)

At end of the year 46,045 54,076 25,000 125,121

Depreciation charge for the
year ended 30 June 2000 19,308 6,398 24,000 49,706

Net Book Value
As at 30 June 2001 22,522 6,648 275,000 304,170

As at 30 June 2000 42,554 14,124 93,000 149,678

Included in the carrying values of property, plant and equipment are the following:-

The Group The Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

$ $ $ $

(i) Property, plant and equipment
pledged as security for bank loans 17,520,000 16,849,215 - -

(ii) Motor vehicles acquired under hire
purchase arrangement 275,000 - 275,000 -

17,795,000 16,849,215 275,000 -

4. Investments in Subsidiaries
The Company

2001 2000

$ $

Unquoted equity investments, at cost 29,877,926 20,245,123
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Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2001

4. Investments in Subsidiaries (cont’d)

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary Effective equity held Cost of investment

2001 2000 2001 2000

% % $ $

1,2 Heilongjiang Asiapower Xinbao
Heating & Power Co., Ltd (“Xinbao”) 51 51 12,010,123 12,010,123

1,2 Asia Power (Neijiang) Hydroelectricity
Co., Ltd (“Neijiang”) 100 100 8,235,000 8,235,000

3,4 Asia Technologies Limited (“Asia Tech”) 61 - 9,632,803 -
and its subsidiary:

1,3 Shenzhen NARI Technologies
Co., Ltd (“Shenzhen NARI”)
[formerly known as Shenzhen
Nan Tian Gao Technologies Co., Ltd] 32 - - -

29,877,926 20,245,123

1 Audited by other firms for statutory purposes.
2 Audited by an associated firm of KPMG for consolidation purposes.
3 Audited by KPMG for consolidation purposes.
4 No statutory audit is required in its country of incorporation.

Xinbao

Xinbao was established in Qiqihaer City of Heilongjiang Province, the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) by the
Company and Qiqihaer Xinbao Heating & Power Co., Ltd (“Qiqihaer Xinbao”) as a Sino-foreign equity joint venture
enterprise.  The equity interests of the Company and Qiqihaer Xinbao are 51% and 49% respectively.  Xinbao
obtained the business registration licence issued by the State Administration of Industry and Commerce of the PRC
on 6 May 1998.  The operating period of Xinbao is 20 years.

The principal activities of Xinbao are owning, managing and operating a coal-fired power plant to generate and
sell electric power and heat and steam in the PRC.

Neijiang

Neijiang was established as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise by the Company by acquiring assets from Sichuan
Province Neijiang City Zizhong County Wulidian Hydroelectricity Plant.  Neijiang obtained the business registration
licence issued by the State Administration of Industry and Commerce of the PRC on 23 February 1998.  The
operating period of Neijiang is 50 years.

The principal activities of Neijiang are owning, managing and operating a hydro-power plant in the PRC.

Asia Tech

Asia Tech is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The principal activities of Asia Tech are those of an investment holding company.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2001

4. Investments in Subsidiaries (cont’d)

Shenzhen NARI

Shenzhen NARI was established in Shenzhen Special Economic Zone, Guangdong Province, the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”), as a Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise.  The equity interests held by Asia Tech, Yangpu
Pulian Industrial Co., Ltd and Nanjing Automation Research Institute, Shenzhen Branch (“NARI, Shenzhen Branch”)
are 52%, 23% and 25% respectively.  Shenzhen NARI obtained the business registration licence issued by the
State Administration of Industry and Commerce of the PRC on 30 June 1994.  The operating period of Shenzhen
NARI is 20 years.

The principal activities of Shenzhen NARI are those relating to the design, manufacture and assembly of computerised
automation systems, including hardware and software.

5. Interests in an Associated Corporation
The Group The Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

$ $ $ $

Unquoted equity investment, at cost 5,293,447 4,233,750 5,293,447 4,233,750
Share of post-acquisition

- retained profits 523,569 469,583 - -
- statutory reserve 145,995 241,830 - -
- enterprise development reserve 64,725 120,816 - -
- capital reserve (221) - - -
- exchange translation account 177,483 85,338 - -

6,204,998 5,151,317 5,293,447 4,233,750

Details of the associated corporation are as follows:
Effective equity

Name of company interest held

2001 2000

% %
Changzhou Suyuan Electric Power Co., Ltd (“Changzhou Suyuan”)

[“formerly known as Changzhou Changya Electric Power
Co., Ltd (“Changya”)”] 25 48

The associated corporation is audited by another firm of certified public accountants for statutory purposes and an
associated firm of KPMG for consolidation purposes.

Changzhou Suyuan was established in the PRC as a Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise by the Company
and Changzhou Changxin Electric Company Limited (“Changxin”). The equity interests of the Company and
Changxin were 48% and 52% respectively. Pursuant to a Share Transfer and Capital Enlargement Agreement,
the Company’s and Changxin’s interests were reduced to 25% and 22% respectively.  Changzhou Suyuan obtained
the business registration licence issued by the State Administration of Industry and Commerce of the PRC on 22
March 1999.  The operating period of Changzhou Suyuan is 20 years.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2001

5. Interests in an Associated Corporation (cont’d)

The principal activities of Changzhou Suyuan are owning, managing and the operations of diesel fuel-fired power
plants in the PRC.

Changzhou Suyuan has entered into 3 separate lease agreements with Changxin, a company in which a director,
Chang Pan, Peter, has an indirect 48% interest.  The details of the leases are set out below:-

Annual
   Date of lease

Assets under lease       agreement rental             Tenure

Rmb

Buildings and equipment 25 March 1999 250,000 20 years (1 April 1999
(non-operating) to 31 March 2019)

Buildings 21 March 1999 150,000 20 years (21 March 1999
(used for operations) to 31 March 2019)

Land use rights 25 March 1999 240,000 20 years (1 April 1999
(non-operating) to 31 March 2019)

During the financial year, the rental expenses payable to Changxin by Changzhou Suyuan amounted to $140,160
(Rmb640,000) [2000: $131,055 (Rmb640,000)].

6. Other Financial Assets
The Group and
The Company

2001 2000

$ $

(a) Non-Current Financial Assets Club membership, at cost 8,888 -

(b) Current Financial Assets Quoted equity securities held for trading
(at market value) 52,500 67,798

7. Goodwill on Consolidation
The Group

2001 2000

$ $
Goodwill arising on consolidation of

Asia Technologies Limited 7,726,199 -
Accumulated amortisation (551,872) -

7,174,327 -

Goodwill on consolidation is amortised over the estimated economic useful life of 14 years.
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8. Inventories
The Group

2001 2000

$ $

Coal 3,159,972 2,007,760
Fuel oil 968,739 881,776
Materials and spare parts 3,463,070 1,613,314
Work in progress 212,248 -
Finished goods 364,552 -

8,168,581 4,502,850
Allowance for inventory obsolescence (172,656) -

7,995,925 4,502,850

9. Trade and Notes Receivables
The Group

2001 2000

$ $

Trade and notes receivables 54,759,617 20,741,119
Allowance for doubtful receivables (4,033,975) (29,122)

50,725,642 20,711,997

Movements in allowance for doubtful receivables are as follows:-

Balance at beginning of the year      29,122 -
Acquisition of subsidiary 3,297,677 -
Allowance made during the year 1,780,180 28,668
Allowance used during the year (1,301,427) -
Translation difference 228,423 454

Balance at end of the year 4,033,975 29,122

Trade receivable balances as at 30 June 2001 include the following receivables from related parties:-

(i) $2,589,521 (Rmb11,824,000) [2000: $5,172,501 (Rmb24,865,000)] due from Huafu Electric Power
Investments Co., Ltd (“Huafu”), a minority shareholder of Qiqihaer Xinbao.

Qiqihaer Xinbao is the 49% equity joint venture partner in the Company’s 51% owned subsidiary, Heilongjiang
Asiapower Xinbao Heating & Power Co., Ltd (“Xinbao”).

(ii) $8,737,232 (Rmb39,896,000) [2000: $Nil] due from Nanjing Automation Research Institute, Shenzhen Branch
(“NARI, Shenzhen Branch”) and $9,397,011 (Rmb42,909,000) [2000: $Nil] due from parties related to NARI,
Shenzhen Branch.

The balances due from NARI, Shenzhen Branch and its related parties accounted for 87% of the trade
receivables of Shenzhen NARI.

NARI, Shenzhen Branch is a 25% equity joint venture partner in Shenzhen NARI.
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10. Other Receivables, Deposits and Prepayments
The Group The Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

$ $ $ $

Travel advances 261,308 - - -
Deposits 230,493 30,608 27,388 30,608
Prepayments and advances to suppliers 1,578,570 2,206,822 2,999 3,122
Recoverables 2,139 30,920 2,139 30,706
Sundry receivables 771,668 791,320 - -

2,844,178 3,059,670 32,526 64,436

11. Amounts due from Related Parties (Non-trade)
The Group The Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

$ $ $ $
Subsidiary
Asia Technologies Limited - - 103,673 -

Related Parties
Qiqihaer Xinbao Heating & Power Co., Ltd.

(“Qiqihaer Xinbao”) - 4,387,452 - -
Fulaerji Electricity Plant (“Fulaerji”) 779,627 - - -

779,627 4,387,452 103,673 -

Qiqihaer Xinbao is the 49% equity joint venture partner in the Company’s 51% owned subsidiary, Heilongjiang
Asiapower Xinbao Heating & Power Co., Ltd (“Xinbao”).

Fulaerji is a minority shareholder of Qiqihaer Xinbao.  The amounts due from related parties are unsecured, interest-
free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

12. Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Group The Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

$ $ $ $

Cash in hand 214,829 9,890 344 20
Cash at bank 7,692,386 7,832,986 83,404 18,502
Fixed deposits with banks 7,220,380 14,664,218 6,573,585 14,664,218

15,127,595 22,507,094 6,657,333 14,682,740

Included in the cash and cash equivalents of the Group are term deposits amounting to $353,019 (Rmb1,612,000)
[2000: $Nil] pledged as security for the loan facilities granted by banks to subsidiaries.
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13. Trade Payables and Accruals
The Group The Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

$ $ $ $

Trade payables 20,396,280 10,341,043   - -
Accrued operating expenses 9,788,688 6,212,629 281,801 387,399

30,184,968 16,553,672 281,801 387,399

Included in trade payables and accrued operating expenses of the Group are amounts of $6,412,524
(Rmb29,281,000) [2000: $Nil] payable to parties related to Shenzhen NARI.

14. Other Payables
The Group The Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

$ $ $ $

Payable to Heilongjiang Electric Power Company 1,708,912 2,025,442     - -
Payables to contractors 691,171 995,168      - -
VAT payable 3,353,819 1,295,115     - -
Others 1,130,427 990,691 53,934 53,934

6,884,329 5,306,416 53,934 53,934

The amount payable to Heilongjiang Electric Power Company of $1,708,912 (Rmb7,803,000) [2000: $2,025,442
(Rmb9,737,000)] is for grid access charges; this was part of the net assets injected to Xinbao when Qiqihaer
Xinbao and the Company established Xinbao.

15. Amount due to Subsidiary (Non-trade)

Amount due to subsidiary are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed term of repayment.

16. Obligations under Hire Purchase Creditor

At 30 June 2001, the Group and the Company had obligations under hire purchase that are repayable as follows:-

The Group and The Company
Gross Interest- Net Gross Interest- Net

obligations in-suspense obligations obligations in-suspense obligations

2001 2001 2001 2000 2000 2000

$ $ $ $ $ $

Within 1 year 40,460 9,200 31,260 - - -
After 1 year

but within 5 years 185,441 19,196 166,245 - - -

225,901 28,396 197,505 - - -

Interest is charged at 5.04% (2000: Nil%) per annum for the Group and the Company.   No contingent rent is
payable under the hire purchase arrangement.
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17. Interest-bearing Loans
The Group

2001 2000

$ $
Secured
(i) Bank loan I of Rmb6,000,000 (2000: Rmb10,000,000)

with final maturity within one year.
Interest is charged at 7.60% (2000: 7.13% to 8.78%) per annum. 1,314,000 2,080,150

(ii) Bank loan II of Rmb34,000,000 with final
maturity after one year (2000: Rmb35,000,000 with
final maturity within one year).
Interest is charged at 7.72% (2000: 5.94% to 9.90%) per annum. 7,446,000 7,280,525

(iii) Bank loan III of Rmb1,400,000 (2000: RmbNil)
with final maturity within one year.
Interest is charged at 7.21% (2000: Nil%) per annum. 306,600 -

9,066,600 9,360,675

Unsecured
(iv) Bank loan IV of RmbNil (2000: Rmb8,000,000)

with final maturity within one year.
Interest is charged at 8.78% (2000: 7.13% to 8.78%) per annum. - 1,664,120

(v) Loan V of Rmb240,000 (2000: Rmb150,000)
from Qiqihaer Environment Protection Bureau
with final maturity on 11 October 2001.
Interest is charged at 4.75% (2000: 4.75%) per annum. 52,560 31,202

(vi) Bank loan VI of Rmb12,000,000 (2000: RmbNil)
with final maturity within one year.
Interest is charged at 5.85% (2000: Nil%) per annum. 2,628,000 -

(vii) Bank loan VII of Rmb6,000,000 (2000: RmbNil)
with final maturity within one year.
Interest is charged at 5.85% (2000: Nil%) per annum. 1,314,000 -

(viii) Bank loan VIII of Rmb10,000,000 (2000: RmbNil)
with final maturity within one year.
Interest is charged at 6.44% (2000: Nil%) per annum. 2,190,000 -

(ix) Bank loan IX of RmbNil (2000: Rmb25,000,000)
with final maturity within one year.
Interest is charged at 5.85% to 6.44%
(2000: 5.85% to 6.35%) per annum. - 5,200,375

6,184,560    6,895,697

15,251,160 16,256,372
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Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2001

17. Interest-bearing Loans (cont’d)
The Group

2001 2000

$ $
Repayable:
-  Within one year 7,805,160 16,225,170
-  After one year 7,446,000 31,202

15,251,160 16,256,372

Bank loans I and II are secured by a subsidiary’s property, plant and equipment with a carrying value of $17,520,000
(Rmb80,000,000) [2000: $16,849,215 (Rmb81,000,000)].

Bank loan III is secured by a subsidiary’s term deposits amounting to $353,019 (Rmb1,612,000) [2000: $Nil].

Bank loan IV was guaranteed by Zizhong County Electricity Company.

18. Deferred Taxation
The Group The Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

$ $ $ $

At beginning of the year 375,157 - - -
Provision made during the year 160,944 375,157 33,000 -

At end of the year 536,101 375,157 33,000 -

19. Share Capital
The Company

2001 2001 2000 2000

US$ $ US$ $
Authorised:
560,000,000 ordinary shares of

US$0.05 each 28,000,000 46,872,000 28,000,000 46,872,000

Issued and fully paid:
At beginning of the year
320,000,000 (2000: 12,000,000) ordinary

shares of US$0.05 (2000: US$1) each 16,000,000 26,602,309 12,000,000 19,922,309

Issued during the year
Nil (2000: 935,584) ordinary shares

of US$1 each - - 935,584 1,562,425

Bonus issue during the year
Nil (2000: 1,064,416) ordinary shares

of US$1 each - - 1,064,416 1,777,575

Balance carried forward 16,000,000 26,602,309 14,000,000 23,262,309
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19. Share Capital (cont’d)
The Company

2001 2001 2000 2000

US$ $ US$ $

Balance brought forward 16,000,000 26,602,309 14,000,000 23,262,309

Sub-division of
Nil (2000: 14,000,000) ordinary shares

of US$1 each into 280,000,000
ordinary shares of US$0.05 each - - 14,000,000 23,262,309

Public Issue of shares
Nil (2000: 40,000,000) ordinary

shares of US$0.05 each - - 2,000,000 3,340,000

At end of the year
320,000,000 ordinary shares

of US$0.05 each 16,000,000 26,602,309 16,000,000 26,602,309

20. Reserves
The Group The Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

$ $ $ $

Share premium 6,079,359 6,079,359 6,079,359 6,079,359
Statutory reserve 1,222,397 1,600,132 - -
Enterprise development reserve 384,316 455,218 - -
Capital reserve 2,014,248 2,014,672 - -
Exchange translation account 2,750,265 877,556 - -
Retained profits 12,333,567 6,594,352 6,507,439 3,414,845

24,784,152 17,621,289 12,586,798  9,494,204

(i) Share Premium

The application of the share premium account is governed by Sections 69-69F of the Companies Act,
Chapter 50.

(ii) Statutory Reserve

The subsidiaries and associated corporation follow the accounting principles and relevant financial regulations
of the PRC (“PRC GAAP”) applicable to wholly foreign-owned enterprises and Sino-foreign equity joint
venture enterprises in the preparation of the accounting records and statutory financial statements.  The
subsidiaries and associated corporation are required to appropriate 5% or 10% of the profit arrived at under
PRC GAAP for each year to a statutory reserve.  The appropriation to statutory reserve must be made before
distribution of dividends to shareholders.  The appropriation is required until the statutory reserve reaches
50% of the registered capital.  This statutory reserve is not distributable in the form of cash dividends.
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20. Reserves (cont’d)

(iii) Enterprise Development Reserve

In accordance with the Articles of Association, the subsidiaries and associated corporation are required to
appropriate 5% of the profit arrived at under PRC GAAP to an enterprise development reserve to fund future
development projects.  The appropriation to enterprise development reserve must be made before distribution
of dividends to shareholders.  This reserve is not distributable in the form of cash dividends.

(iv) Capital Reserve

This comprises capital reserve arising on consolidation of a subsidiary.

(v) Exchange Translation Account

The translation account comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations that are not integral to the operation of the Company, as well as from the
translation of liabilities that hedge the Company’s net investments in foreign subsidiaries and associated
corporation.

(vi) Retained Profits
The Group

2001 2000

$ $
Retained in:
The Company 6,507,439 3,414,845
Subsidiaries 5,302,559 2,709,924
Associated corporation 523,569 469,583

12,333,567 6,594,352

21. Revenue

The amount of each significant category of revenue recognised in turnover during the year is as follows:-

The Group The Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

$ $ $ $

Income from sale of electricity 61,283,976 44,149,279        - -
Income from sale of heat and steam 25,187,487 16,744,698   - -
Sale of computerised automation systems 22,089,751 - - -
Dividend income
- subsidiaries    - - 2,536,061 3,902,692
- associated corporation      - - 1,399,243 1,559,956
- quoted equity investments 846 - 846 -

108,562,060 60,893,977 3,936,150 5,462,648
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22. Other Income
The Group The Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

$ $ $ $

Consultancy fees - 582,374     - -
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 1,188 3,000 513
Gain on foreign exchange - 204,483 143,541 350,414
Gain on disposal of quoted equity investments - 17,863 - 17,863
Gain on partial disposal of interests in an

associated corporation 2,763,876 - 2,997,540 -
Interest income from bank 546,987 525,576 242,274 376,510
Management fees 268,924 1,295,803 - -
Tax subsidies 525,861 - - -
Others 352,044 31,295 - 20,019

4,457,692 2,658,582 3,386,355 765,319

Tax subsidies relate to refunds of income tax by Qiqihaer and Neijiang Municipal Governments during the concession
period (see Note 26).

23. Other Operating Expenses
The Group The Company

Note 2001 2000 2001 2000

$ $ $ $

Allowance for:
- doubtful receivables (trade) 9 1,780,180 - - -
- inventory obsolescence 8 172,656 - - -
Contribution to Qiqihaer

Municipal Government
for improvements to
infrastructure for supply
of heat and steam 568,786 - - -

Miscellaneous 260,948 - - -

2,782,570 - - -
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24. Profit from Operations
The Group The Company

Note 2001 2000 2001 2000

$ $ $ $
Profit from operations is arrived at

after charging:

Amortisation of goodwill on consolidation 7 551,872 - - -
Auditors’ remuneration:
- auditors of the Company 90,000 60,000 60,000 60,000
- other auditors 147,813 110,167       - 101,976
Non-audit fees payable to

auditors of the Company 115,000 99,220 45,000 99,220
Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment 3 3,498,104 3,168,847 92,743 49,706
Directors’ fees
- directors of the Company 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000
Directors’ remuneration
- directors of the Company 355,139 249,663 355,139 249,663
- other directors 30,503 - - -
Write down of short-term quoted

equity securities to market value 15,298 10,100 15,298 10,100
Loss on disposal of property,

plant and equipment 2,242 - - -
Loss on foreign exchange 127,362 - - -
Allowance for doubtful receivables (trade) 9 1,780,180 28,668 - -
Staff costs 13,095,624 9,533,886 203,663 362,726
Operating lease expenses 4,297,910 1,105,637 89,348 80,134

The number of employees in the Group and the Company at 30 June 2001 were 1,714 (2000: 1,153) and 9
(2000: 10) respectively.

25. Finance Costs
The Group The Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

$ $ $ $

Interest paid and payable to:
- banks 815,060 925,213 - -
- hire purchase creditor 4,362 - 4,362 -
- others 193,983 355,690 - -

1,013,405 1,280,903 4,362 -



 p
ag

e 
50

Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2001

26. Taxation
The Group The Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

$ $ $ $
Based on results for the year:
- Current taxation

- Singapore 55,000 164,548 55,000 100,040
- Overseas 2,761,317 - 284,641 -

2,816,317 164,548 339,641 100,040
- Deferred taxation 160,944 375,157 33,000 -

2,977,261 539,705 372,641 100,040
Underprovision of current

taxation in respect of prior years:
- Singapore 26,000 14,960 26,000 14,960
- Overseas 623,005 - - -

649,005 14,960 26,000 14,960

3,626,266 554,665 398,641 115,000
Share of taxation of associated corporation 90,184 - - -

3,716,450 554,665 398,641 115,000

The Group

The subsidiaries and associated corporation enjoy the following tax holiday periods:-

(a) Heilongjiang Asiapower Xinbao Heating & Power Co., Ltd (“Xinbao”) is exempt from income tax for two
years from its first profit-making year and is subject to income tax at 50% of the applicable rate for the
following three years.  The first profit-making year of the subsidiary commenced on 1 January 1998.

Xinbao is further entitled to a tax concession from Qiqihaer Municipal Government for a further two years
after the expiry of the above concession whereby any income tax paid by Xinbao to the Central Tax Bureau
will be refunded by the Qiqihaer Municipal Government.

(b) Asia Power (Neijiang) Hydroelectricity Co., Ltd (“Neijiang”) is exempt from income tax for two years from its
first profit-making year and is subject to income tax at 50% of the applicable rate for the following three
years.  The first profit-making year of the subsidiary commenced on 1 January 1998.

Neijiang is further entitled to a tax concession from Neijiang Municipal Government for a further two years
after the expiry of the above concession whereby any income tax paid by Neijiang to the Central Tax Bureau
will be refunded by the Neijiang Municipal Government.  In addition, half of any income tax paid from the
sixth to the tenth year after the first profit-making year to the Central Tax Bureau will be refunded by the
Neijiang Municipal Government.

(c) Shenzhen NARI Technologies Co., Ltd is exempt from income tax for two years from its first profit-making
year and is subject to income tax at 50% of the applicable rate for the following three years.  The first profit-
making year of the subsidiary commenced on 1 January 1996.

(d) Changzhou Suyuan Electric Power Co., Ltd is exempt from income tax for two years from its first profit-
making year and is subject to income tax at 50% of the applicable rate for the following three years.

The first profit-making year of the associated corporation commenced on 1 January 1999.
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26. Taxation (cont’d)

The Company

The tax charge for the year is lower than that arrived at by applying statutory rate of tax to profit for the year
primarily because the tax payable on the dividends received from subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic
of China is relieved by tax sparing relief.

27. Earnings Per Share

(i) Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to shareholders of $8,262,419
(2000: $7,360,443) and the weighted average number of 320,000,000 (2000: 307,868,852) ordinary shares.

(ii) Diluted earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to shareholders of $8,262,419
(2000: $7,360,443) and the weighted average number of 320,000,000 (2000: 307,868,852) ordinary shares
after adjusting for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

(iii) Reconciliations

The unissued ordinary shares under the Asia Power Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) are as follows:-

2001 2000

Unissued Exercise Unissued Exercise
ordinary shares price ($) ordinary shares price ($)

3,006,790 0.26 4,799,997 0.26
4,746,672 0.15 -

7,753,462 4,799,997

The average fair value of one ordinary share for the year ended 30 June 2001 has been $0.17 (2000: $0.22)
per share. The weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the unissued ordinary shares under
the Scheme is calculated as follows:

2001 2000

Number Number
of shares of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in
calculating basic earnings per share 320,000,000 307,868,852

Weighted average number of unissued ordinary shares
under share options - -

Number of shares that would have been issued at fair value       - -

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in
calculating diluting earnings per share 320,000,000 307,868,852

The potential ordinary shares arising from the exercise of the options under the Scheme should be treated as
dilutive when their conversion to ordinary shares would decrease net profit per share from continuing ordinary
operations.  However, in the calculation of the diluted earnings per share for the financial year ended 30
June 2001, the potential ordinary shares arising from the exercise of the options under the Scheme are
excluded as they are anti-dilutive.
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28. Significant Related Party Transactions

During the financial year, in addition to related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements,
there were the following significant related party transactions in the normal course of business on terms agreed
between the parties:-

The Group The Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

$ $ $ $

Sales 20,219,033 - - -
Sub-processing fees 4,798,090 - - -
Rental expenses 1,054,141 1,014,855 - -
Management fee income 268,924 1,036,751 - -
Reimbursement of staff expenses received - 716,706  - -
Reimbursement of rental expenses 16,500 6,000 16,500 6,000

Sales relate to sales of computerised automation systems to NARI, Shenzhen Branch, Nanjing Automation Research
Institute (“Nanjing NARI”) and its related parties.

Sub-processing fees relate to fees paid or payable to Nanjing NARI for structural design, purchasing of parts,
assembly, testing and configuration of the computerised automation systems.

The rental expenses relate to the rental of auxiliary equipment from Fulaerji Electricity Plant (“Fulaerji”) under a
non-cancellable operating lease arrangement.  The annual rental is $1,054,141 (Rmb4,956,000) [2000: $1,014,855
(Rmb4,956,000)] and the lease will expire on 30 April 2003.  Fulaerji is a shareholder of Qiqihaer Xinbao Heating
& Power Co., Ltd (“Qiqihaer Xinbao”).  Qiqihaer Xinbao is the 49% equity joint venture partner in the Company’s
51% owned subsidiary, Heilongjiang Asiapower Xinbao Heating & Power Co., Ltd (“Xinbao”).

Management fee income relates to fee earned by Xinbao from 1 July 2000 to 31 August 2000 under an agreement
with Huafu dated 6 January 1999, under which Xinbao manages and operates two generators and the related
common facilities on behalf of Huafu.  The fee is computed by applying the rate of Rmb0.025 per KWh to the
electricity actually supplied by the two generators.  Huafu is also a shareholder of Qiqihaer Xinbao.

Reimbursement of rental expenses relates to share of office and apartment expenses for the period from 1
July 2000 to 31 March 2001 which is receivable from Asia Cable TV Pte Ltd, a company in which three
directors have financial interests.  The amount of expenses to be recovered is in accordance with a service
agreement dated 1 March 2000.

29. Commitments

(a) Capital Commitments
The Group

2001 2000

$ $

Contracted but not provided for 4,860,048 2,774,920
Authorised but not contracted for -     895,505

4,860,048 3,670,425
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29. Commitments (cont’d)

(b) Operating Lease Commitments

The Group and the Company have the following future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases:-

The Group The Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

$ $ $ $
Payable as follows:
- within 1 year 4,280,213 692,320 80,132 80,132
- within 2 to 5 years 878,451 2,491,026 - 80,132

5,158,664 3,183,346 80,132 160,264

30. Directors’ Remuneration

The number of directors in each of the remuneration bands are as follows:-

The Group The Company

2001 2000 2001 2000

$500,000 & above - - - -
$250,000 to $499,999 1 - 1 -
Below $250,000 18 14 5 6

19 14 6 6

31. Economic Dependency

(a) Power Plant Operations

The normal trading activities of the power plant operations depend to a significant extent on the supply of
electricity to a number of major provincial power bureaus.

(b) Power-related Technology

The normal trading activities of the sale of computerised automation systems also depend to a significant
extent on NARI, Shenzhen Branch, a 25% equity joint venture partner in the Company’s subsidiary, Shenzhen
NARI, and its related party, Nanjing NARI.  Approximately 92% (2000: Nil%) of the Group’s revenue is earned
from NARI, Shenzhen Branch and Nanjing NARI.

32. Holding Company

The immediate and ultimate holding company is Asiapower Holdings Corporation Ltd, a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands.
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33. Segmental Information

(a) Business Segments
Power plant Power-related Investment
operations technology holding Eliminations Consolidated

$ $ $ $ $
Revenue and expenses
2001
Total revenue from

external customers 86,471,463 22,089,751 5,261,787 (5,260,941) 108,562,060

Profit from operations
before depreciation
and amortisation
of goodwill 18,097,138 6,161,861 4,049,697 (5,260,941) 23,047,755

Depreciation (3,273,044) (132,317) (92,743) - (3,498,104)
Amortisation of

goodwill - (551,872) - - (551,872)

Profit from operations
after depreciation
and amortisation
of goodwill 14,824,094 5,477,672 3,956,954 (5,260,941) 18,997,779

Finance costs (1,013,405)

Profit from ordinary
activities 17,984,374

Share of results of
associated corporation 1,598,045 - - - 1,598,045

Taxation (3,716,450)
Minority interests (7,603,550)

Net profit for the year
attributable to
shareholders
of the Company 8,262,419
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33. Segmental Information (cont’d)

(a) Business Segments (cont’d)
Power plant Power-related Investment
operations technology holding Eliminations Consolidated

$ $ $ $ $
Revenue and expenses
2000
Total revenue from

external customers 60,893,977 - 5,462,648 (5,462,648) 60,893,977

Profit from operations
before depreciation 16,362,107 - 4,686,522 (5,462,648) 15,585,981

Depreciation (3,119,141) - (49,706) - (3,168,847)

Profit from operations
after depreciation 13,242,966 - 4,636,816 (5,462,648) 12,417,134

Finance costs (1,280,903)

Profit from ordinary
activities 11,136,231

Share of results of
associated corporation 1,663,330 - - - 1,663,330

Taxation (554,665)
Minority interests (4,884,453)

Net profit for the year
attributable to
shareholders
of the Company 7,360,443

(b) Business Segments

Assets and Liabilities
2001
Segment assets 94,964,759 29,409,111 43,817,552 (36,550,309) 131,641,113
Interests in an associated

corporation 6,204,998 -  - -  6,204,998

Total assets 101,169,757 29,409,111 43,817,552 (36,550,309) 137,846,111

Segment liabilities 26,370,415 11,333,348 3,000,793 (1,235,259) 39,469,297

Unallocated liabilities 17,157,919

81,218,895
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33. Segmental Information (cont’d)

(b) Business Segments (cont’d)
Power plant Power-related Investment
operations technology holding Eliminations Consolidated

$ $ $ $ $
Assets and Liabilities
2000
Segment assets 84,057,871 - 35,209,775 (20,245,124) 99,022,522
Interests in an associated

corporation 5,151,317 -  - - 5,151,317

Total assets 89,209,188 - 35,209,775 (20,245,124) 104,173,839

Segment liabilities 21,418,755 - 3,232,012 - 24,650,767

Unallocated liabilities 16,811,037

62,712,035

Notes to the Financial Statements 30 June 2001
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Shareholding Statistics as at 15 October 2001

Authorised share capital : US$28,000,000
Issued and fully paid : US$16,000,000
Number of shareholders : 6,029
Class of equity security : Ordinary shares of US$0.05
Voting rights of ordinary shareholders : Every member of the Company who is present in person or by proxy or

attorney or in the case of a corporation by a representative shall have
one vote on a show of hands and on a poll every such member shall
have one vote for every share of which he is the holder.

Analysis of shareholdings
Number of Number of

Range of Shareholdings Shareholders % Shares %

1 - 1,000 543 9.00 543,000 0.17
1,001 - 10,000 4,395 72.90 22,301,000 6.97
10,001 - 1,000,000 1,082 17.95 45,123,000 14.10
1,000,001 and above 9 0.15 252,033,000 78.76

6,029 100.00 320,000,000 100.00

Top 20 shareholders
Number of

S/No. Name Shares Held %

1 Asiapower Holdings Corporation Ltd 179,200,000 56.00
2 Wong Sow Voon 34,742,860 10.86
3 Raffles Nominees Pte Ltd 20,196,140 6.31
4 DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 10,117,000 3.16
5 UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd 2,470,000 0.77
6 United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 2,007,000 0.63
7 Overseas Union Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 1,212,000 0.38
8 Oun Kuo-yang 1,058,000 0.33
9 Oversea Chinese Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 1,030,000 0.32
10 Phillip Securities Pte Ltd 686,000 0.21
11 Lu Li-wen 660,000 0.21
12 Citibank Consumer Nominees Pte Ltd 627,000 0.20
13 Oei Tjing Ping 556,000 0.17
14 Sitaram Chandra Das 500,000 0.16
15 Wong Kim Yuan 473,000 0.15
16 HSBC Republic Bank (Suisse) SA 428,000 0.13
17 Tai Poh Weng 400,000 0.13
18 DBS Vickers Secs (S) Pte Ltd 375,000 0.12
19 Hong Leong Finance Nominees Pte Ltd 374,000 0.12
20 Tan Seng Whatt Philip 350,000 0.11

257,462,000 80.47

Extract from Register of Substantial Shareholders

Name of Substantial Shareholder Direct Interest Deemed Interest  Aggregated

1. Asiapower Holdings Corporation Ltd 179,200,000 179,200,000
2. Wong Sow Voon 34,742,860 179,200,000 213,942,860
3. Chang Pan, Peter 18,057,140  179,200,000 197,257,140
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 4th Annual General Meeting of ASIA POWER CORPORATION LIMITED will be held at
Sheraton Towers Singapore, 39 Scotts Road, Singapore 228230 on Thursday, 29th November 2001 at 3.00 pm for the
following purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts of the Company for the year
ended 30th June 2001 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon. (Resolution 1)

2. To declare a tax exempt final dividend of S$0.0075 per share for the year ended 30th June
2001.(2000:S$0.005) (Resolution 2)

3. To re-elect the following Directors retiring by rotation pursuant to Article 91 of the Company’s
Articles of Association:-

Mr Wong Sow Voon (Resolution 3)
Mr Li Tianfei (Resolution 4)

Mr Wong Sow Voon  will upon  re-election as a Director of the Company remain as Chairman of
the Board of Directors and Share Option Scheme Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee.

Mr Li Tianfei will upon re-election as a Director of the Company remain as an Executive Director
of the Company in charge of the China operations.

4. To approve the payment of Directors’ fee of S$60,000 for the year ended 30th June 2001.
(2000:S$60,000) (Resolution 5)

5. To re-appoint KPMG as the Company’s Auditors and to authorize the Directors to fix their
remuneration. (Resolution 6)

6. To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General
Meeting.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as ordinary resolutions, with or
without modifications:

7.     Authority to allot and issue shares up to fifty per cent (50%) of the issued capital    (Resolution 7)

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 and Clause 941(3)(b) of the
Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, the Directors be and are
hereby empowered to allot and issue shares in the capital of the Company at any time and upon
such terms and conditions and for such purposes as the Directors may, in their absolute discretion,
deem fit provided that the aggregate number of shares to be allotted and issued pursuant to
this resolution shall not exceed fifty per cent (50%) of the issued share capital of the Company
for the time being, of which the aggregate number of shares to be issued other than on a pro
rata basis to all shareholders of the Company shall not exceed twenty per cent (20%) of the
existing issued share capital of the Company and that such authority shall, unless revoked or
varied by the Company in General Meeting continue in force until the date on which the next
Annual General Meeting is held or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the
Company is required by law to be held.

Notice of Annual General Meeting
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

8. Authority to offer and grant options and to allot and issue shares pursuant to the Asia Power
Share Option Scheme (Resolution 8)

That approval be and is hereby given to the Directors to offer and grant options in accordance
with the provisions of the Asia Power Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) and to allot and
issue from time to time such number of shares in the Company as may be required to be issued
pursuant to the exercise of the options in accordance with the rules of the Scheme provided
always that the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to the Scheme shall not
exceed fifteen per cent (15%) of the total issued share capital of the Company from time to
time until the date on which the next  Annual General Meeting is held or the date by which the
next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held.

9. Authority to offer and grant options and to allot and issue shares to controlling shareholders
pursuant to the Asia Power Share Option Scheme

That pursuant to the Asia Power Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”), approval be and is
hereby given to the Directors to offer and grant options to each of the following Directors who
are controlling  shareholders of the Company to subscribe for shares in the capital of the Company
not exceeding 480,000 shares each and to allot and issue from time to time such number of
fully paid shares in the Company to each of them upon the exercise by each of  them of their
options in accordance with the rules of the Scheme:

Mr Wong Sow Voon (Resolution 9)
Dr Chang Pan, Peter (Resolution 10)

By Order of the Board

Pang Hin Long
Company Secretary

10th November 2001
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Explanatory Notes

The Ordinary Resolution  proposed in No. 7 above, if passed, will empower the Directors from the date of the above
Meeting until the date on which  the next Annual General Meeting  is held or the date by which the next Annual General
Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held to allot and issue shares in the Company.  The number of shares,
which directors may allot and issue under this resolution, would not exceed fifty per cent (50%) of the issued share
capital of the Company for the time being.  For issue of shares other than on a pro rata basis to all shareholders, the
aggregate number of shares to be issued shall not exceed twenty per cent (20%) of the existing issued share capital of
the Company.

The Ordinary Resolution as proposed in No.8 above, if passed, will empower the Directors to issue shares pursuant to the
Asia Power Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) which was approved at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on
19th October 1999 of up to an amount not exceeding in total fifteen per cent (15%) of the issued share capital of the
Company for the time being pursuant to the exercise of the options under the Scheme. This authority will unless revoked
or varied at a General Meeting, continued in force until the date on which the next Annual General Meeting is held or
the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held.

The Ordinary Resolutions as proposed in No. 9 and 10 above, if passed separately will empower the Directors to offer and
grant 480,000 shares in the capital of the Company to each of the two controlling shareholders (who shall abstain from
voting individually) in accordance with the Asia Power Share Option Scheme which was approved at the Extraordinary
General Meeting held on 19th October 1999, and to allot and issue fully paid shares pursuant to the exercise of their
options in accordance with the rules of the Scheme.

Notes

1. A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his stead.
A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2. If the appointer is a corporation, the proxy must be executed under seal or the hand of its duly authorised officer
or attorney.

3. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 5 Shenton Way,
#12-08 UIC Building, Singapore 068808, not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time for holding the
Meeting.

Notice of Books Closure
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the transfer books and the register of members will be closed from 11th December 2001
to 12th December 2001 (both dates inclusive) for the preparation of dividend warrants. Duly completed transfers received
by the Company’s Registrar M & C Services Pte Ltd at 138 Robinson Road, #17-00 The Corporate Office, Singapore
068906 up to the close of business at 5.00 pm on 10th December 2001 will be registered to determine shareholders’
entitlement to the above dividend.

In respect of ordinary share in the securities account with the Central Depository (Pte) Limited (“CDP”) the dividend will
be paid by the Company to the “CDP” which will distribute entitlement to shareholders.

Notice of Annual General Meeting
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IMPORTANT
1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy the shares, the Annual Report is sent to them at the request of their CPF

Approved Nominees FOR INFORMATION ONLY.
2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be

used by them.

I/We ___________________________________________________________________________________________________

of ____________________________________________________________________________________________________

being a member of the above-named Company, hereby appoint

Name Address NRIC/Passport Proportion of
Number Shareholdings

No. of
shares %

 and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name Address NRIC/Passport Proportion of
Number Shareholdings

No. of
shares %

or failing him/her the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy/proxies to attend and vote for me/us on my/our behalf
and if necessary to demand a poll, at the 4th Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on 29 November 2001
at 3.00 pm, and at any adjournment thereof.

Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided whether you wish your vote(s) to be cast for or against the Ordinary
Resolutions as set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting. In the absence of specific directions, the proxy/proxies
will vote or abstain as he/they may think fit, as he/they will on any other matter arising at the Annual General Meeting.

To be used on To be used in
a show of hands the event of a poll

No. Resolutions Relating to For Against For Against

1 Adoption of Reports and Accounts

2 Declaration of Final Dividend

Re-election of the following Directors retiring by rotation:

3 Mr Wong Sow Voon

4 Mr Li Tianfei

5 Approval of Directors’ fees

6 Re-appoint KPMG as the Company’s auditors and authorise the
Directors to fix their remuneration

7 Authorise Directors to issue shares pursuant to Section 161 of
the Companies Act (Cap 50)

8 Empower Directors to offer and grant options, and to allot and
issue shares pursuant to the Asia Power Share Option Scheme

Empower Directors to offer and grant options, and to allot and
issue shares to:

9 Mr Wong Sow Voon

10 Dr Chang Pan, Peter

Dated this ______________ day of _____________ 2001 Total number of Shares held

_____________________________________
Signature(s) of member(s) or Common Seal
IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES PRINTED ON THE REVERSE.

✄
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

Corporation Limited



First fold here

Second fold here

The Company Secretary

Asia Power Corporation Limited
5 Shenton Way

#12-08 UIC Building

Singapore 068808

Please
Affix Postage

Stamp

1. The proxy, duly completed (together with the power of attorney, if any, under which it is signed or a certified copy
thereof), must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 5 Shenton Way, #12-08 UIC Building,
Singapore 068808, not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the holding of the Meeting or the
adjournment of the Meeting thereof.

2. This proxy must be signed by the member or his duly authorised attorney or, if the member is a body corporate,
signed under its common seal or by its attorney or duly authorised officer of the corporation.

3. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at this Meeting is entitled to appoint up to two proxies to
attend and vote instead of him, such proxy needs not be a member of the Company.

4. When a member appoints two proxies the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportions of his
holdings to be represented by each proxy.

5. The Company may reject this proxy if it is improperly completed or illegible. For a member who is a Direct Account
Holder or Depository Agent with the Central Depository (Pte) Limited (“CDP”) the Company may reject the proxy
if such member is not shown in the records of the CDP as certified by CDP to the Company to have the Company’s
shares entered against his/her name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for the
Meeting or the adjournment of the Meeting thereof.

Third fold along this line and glue overleaf
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